	Individual Action Plan Update for Korea for 2020

	
Highlights of recent policy developments which indicate how Korea is progressing towards the Bogor Goals and key challenges it faces in its efforts to meet the Goals. 

	


	IAP Chapter (and Sub-Chapter and Section Heading, if any) 
	Improvements made since 2018 IAP 
	Further Improvements Planned 

	Tariffs

	▪ Korea has reduced the tariff rates in accordance with Information Technology Agreement Ⅱ  (ITA Ⅱ). As of January 2019, 90 of the tariff lines were eliminated under the ITA Ⅱ. 

	▪ Tariffs on the entire items covered by ITA Ⅱ are expected to be eliminated on January 1st, 2023.

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Customs Service (www.customs.go.kr) 
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Economy and Finance

Customs Organization Team

Tel)  +82-44-215-4467
	

	Non-Tariff Measures 

Non‐tariff measures include but are not restricted to quantitative import/export restrictions/prohibitions, import/export levies, minimum import prices, discretionary import/export licensing, voluntary export restraints and export subsidies

	▪ Restrictions on trade are limited to the very minimum necessary, mainly to protect health, safety, security, environment and natural resources in accordance with the provisions under Articles XX and XXI of GATT 1994, other WTO Agreements(TBT and SPS), and other international rules or agreements. Details can be found in the WTO document (G/MA/QR/N/KOR/2). 
	▪ Korea will continue to keep its commitments in accordance with the WTO Agreements that call for the elimination of trade distorting measures, by consistently reviewing its import/export procedures and studying the feasibility of further liberalization.
▪  Korea will also continue its efforts at providing notifications in the interests of ensuring transparency

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details: 
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

WTO Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5928

	

	Services


	▪ To further liberalize the service sector beyond its WTO commitments, Korea has been under the subsequent negotiation with China for services and investment since its launch in December 2017. In addition, Korea launched the negotiation for services and investment with Russia in 2019.
	▪ Korea plans to conclude negotiations for services and investment with China and Russia respectively.

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy(www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

Multilateral Trade Cooperation Division

Free Trade Agreement Services and Investment Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5931, 5811
	

	Investment


	▪ Korea has made continuous efforts to promote business-friendly environment of Foreign Direct Investment as a part of the government’s overall strategy to revitalize economy and create jobs with several new measures.

▪ Such measures include the following.

- In January 2020, the Foreign Investment Promotion Act was amended so that the government is able to grant FDI incentives for re-investment of unused retained earnings, which has been previously unrecognized as foreign direct investment. For example, foreign-invested companies have become eligible for local tax reduction benefits even if they reinvest domestic reserves. 

- An annual publication ‘Doing Business in Korea’, an investment guidebook to share the latest updates with investors, is provided. The service, accessible both online and offline, gives rapid, effective and transparent sources of information on FDI attraction in Korea. 

▪ As stated in Services Chapter, Korea has been under the negotiations for services and investment with China and Russia respectively.
	▪ The Korean government plans to amend the Foreign Investment Enforcement Decree within 2020. The revised Enforcement Decree will improve the convenience of investors by expanding the scope of institutions that assist foreign investors.
▪ Korea plans to conclude negotiations for services and investment with China and Russia respectively. 

	Website for further information:  
	Invest Korea (www.investkorea.or.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

Foreign Investment Policy Division

Tel)  +82-44-203-4074
	

	Standards and Conformance


	▪ Korea has actively participated in international standardization activities and continued its efforts to align its domestic standards with international standards

▪ Alignment of standards with international standards where appropriate

-  As of December 2019, 13,704 out of 20,507 standards in total have complied with corresponding international standards.
* Rate of adoption : 66.8%

* Rate of harmonization : 98.0%

▪ As of December 2019, Korea is participating in 720 ISO TC/SCs and 174 IEC TC/SCs.  Korea is serving as the Secretariat for 20 ISO TC/SCs and 10 IEC TC/SCs and as the Convenorship for 126 ISO TC/SCs and 41 IEC TC/SCs

▪ Korea has actively participated in ISO and IEC Governance such as ISO Council (2020~2022), TMB (2016~2018), IEC CB (2018~2021), SMB (2018~2021), CAB (2016~2018), MSB (2017~2020). In particular, the 82nd IEC General Meeting was held in October 2018 in Busan, Korea.

▪ Korea Laboratory Accreditation Scheme has adopted CASCO international standards of ISO/IEC to accreditation criteria in six accreditation areas.

· Calibration & Test: ISO/IEC 1725

· Inspection body: ISO/IEC 17020

· Medical test: ISO 15189

· Proficiency test : ISO/IEC 17043

· Reference Standard Producer: ISO/IEC 17034

▪ As international standard (ISO/IEC 17011:2017 and ISO/IEC 17025:2017) regarding requirements of Korea Laboratory Accreditation Scheme and testing laboratories were revised, Korea adopted the revision accordingly (2019.4~).

	▪ Korea plans to facilitate rationalization of regulation by continuing review on national technical regulations including Conformity Assessment System. 

▪ To maintain effective implementation of transparency obligation under the WTO TBT Agreement, Korea plans to undertake training workshops for relevant officials. Furthermore, Enquiry point makes efforts to develop mechanisms for interagency coordination within the government in order to improve awareness of WTO TBT Agreements.


	Website for further information:  
	Korean Agency for Technology and Standards (www.kats.go.kr/en)

Korean Network on World TBT (www.knowtbt.kr)

KC (Korea Certification) Mark ( http://safetykorea.kr/)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korean Agency for Technology and Standards

International Standards Cooperation Division 

Tel)  +82-43-870-5400
	

	Customs Procedures


	▪ In April 2019, Korea concluded with Indonesia an MOU on Electronic Certificate of Origin Data (EODES), which is expected to increase the utilization of FTA and reduce the logistics costs. In February 2020, Korea completed the establishment of EODES and concluded AEO MRA with Indonesia.
▪ Korea test-operated AI-based E-clearance system that enables Customs to focus its inspection capabilities on high-risk cargoes. 

▪ Korea also developed risk management model targeting high-risk passengers, such as drug smugglers, with the use of Big Data technology 
	▪ Korea plans to further utilize emerging technologies, such as delinquent database management based on Big Data, AI-based trade finance monitoring, and express cargo inspection.   

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Customs Service (www.customs.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korea Customs Service

Multilateral Cooperation Division

Tel) +82-42-481-7963
	

	Intellectual Property Rights


	▪ Since 2018, Korea has made amendments in the Trademark Law for the convenience of applicants, as follows;

- amending the form of the certificate of attorney

- easing the criteria for the expenditure examination

- easing the eligibility of applicants.

▪ In 2019, Korea revised the Design Protection Act, thereby simplifying the application procedure of design drawings and improving the convenience of applicants.
	

	Website for further information:  
	www.kipo.go.kr/en/MainApp
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Kyosook CHOI

ks.choi@korea.kr
Deputy director

Multilateral affairs division in KIPO
	

	Competition Policy


	▪ In an effort to realize the fair economy and innovative growth, Korea has not only strictly enforced the competition law on mergers, cartels, and abuse of market dominance, but also worked on the improvement in the law. 
▪ [Competition law enforcement]

From 2018 to 2019, The Korea Fair Trade Commission (KFTC) imposed sanctions against 3 abuses of market dominance cases and detected 183 domestic and international cartels. Furthermore, the KFTC received 1480 merger filings, proceeded in-depth review on 42 cases, and imposed remedies on 8 cases.

▪ [Competition law development]

Korea pushed ahead with the overhaul of the Monopoly Regulation and Fair Trade Act (MRFTA) for the first time in 38 years since its enactment. The draft amendment was submitted to the National Assembly at the end of 2018. The major changes of the MRFTA (proposed) are as follows:

- improving the law enforcement system by institutionalizing various civil, criminal and administrative enforcement measures (adoption of the injunctive relief by a private party, abolishment of the exclusive referral system, etc.); 

- enhancing the defense rights of examinees and procedural fairness in the investigation and deliberation.

- supporting the establishment of an ecosystem for innovative growth (Introduction of a new merger notification threshold based on the total value of transaction, regulation on anticompetitive information exchange, etc.)

▪ [Competition advocacy]

From 2018 to 2019, Korea reformed 42 anticompetitive regulations in sectors that are closely related to the everyday life of the people, such as air-transport services.

▪ [International cooperation]

The KFTC signed an MOU with the State Administration for Market Regulation, Chinese competition authority in 2019. Under the MOU, two economies will expand cooperation on antitrust issues by holding annual meetings of officials and exchanging information.
	

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Fair Trade Commission (http://eng.ftc.go.kr) 
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korea Fair Trade Commission

International Cooperation Division 

Tel) +82-44-200-4325

Mail) kftc@korea.kr
	

	Government Procurement


	▪ Korea has made further liberalization in the area of government procurement through multilateral FTAs such as Korea-Central America (Panama, Costa Rica, Honduras, El Salvador and Nicaragua), which came into effect in Oct. 2019. Korea also concluded FTAs with U.K. and Israel in 2019. 
▪ In order to enhance transparency and fairness in public procurement, Korea improved the Bid Rigging Indicator Analysis System by expanding the review process into a more comprehensive system that tests the performance and social responsibilities of potential awardees and their proposed prices.

▪ Korea established Cost Analysis and Prediction System for Public Work Projects, which enables the prediction of project costs in multiple ways depending on types of building and design conditions. It helps remove factors of budget waste in advance and improve transparency in construction procurement.

▪ PPS Korea supports the Asia-Pacific Public e-Procurement Network (APPePN) together with ADB to share best practices regarding e-procurement and other public procurement to boost transparency and efficiency in public procurement.
	▪ Korea expects to make further liberalization in the area of public procurement. Negotiations on RCEP and MERCOSUR are underway, and preparations for negotiations with EAEU, GCC, etc. are in the making. 

▪ PPS Korea is planning to revamp KONEPS (Korea ON-line E-Procurement System). KONEPS will be transformed into a more advanced system by adopting innovative ICT technologies to meet the requirement of the new phase of the e-procurement system. 

	Website for further information:  
	Public Procurement Service (www.pps.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Public Procurement Service

International Cooperation Division

Tel) +82-70-4056-7470
	

	Deregulation/Regulatory Review


	The government introduced regulatory sandbox in January 2019 to speed up the process of winning approval in new technologies and new industries by allowing firms to launch new services and goods first, and apply reasonable regulations later.

(195 projects were approved in 2019). 
	Korea expects to approve over 200 projects by the regulatory sandbox in 2020.

	Website for further information:  
	http://www.opm.go.kr/opm/news/press-release.do?mode=view&articleNo=124755
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Regulatory Reform Office, Prime Minister’s Office

Tel) +82-44-200-2429
	

	Implementation of WTO Obligations/ROOs


	▪ Korea has issued 286 notifications under WTO Agreements, including the Agreement on TBT, SPS, Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, Import Licensing Procedures, Rules of Origin, Agriculture, Government Procurement, Implementation of Article 6, 17:4, 24:7 of the GATT 199 and 5:7 of the GATS during the reporting period (2018-19).
	▪ Korea will continue to actively and constructively engage in efforts to promote further transparency and maintain its support for the rules-based multilateral trading system.

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

World Trade Organization Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5928
	

	Dispute Mediation


	(  Korea has been actively engaged in the WTO dispute settlement procedures to resolve its trade disputes in the multilateral forum. Since January 2018, Korea has brought 4 disputes to the WTO as complainant, and 3 cases have been brought against Korea.
(  Furthermore, Korea has actively participated in the DSU review negotiation whose mandate is to clarify and improve the procedural law of the WTO dispute settlement mechanism by submitting various proposals.
	

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

Trade Dispute Settlement Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5770
	

	Mobility of Business People


	▪ For more people to use the automated immigration service (Smart Entry System; SES), Korea concluded MOUs on the mutual use of auto-gates with Chinese Taipei (June 2018) and Germany (December 2018).

▪ From July 2019, short-term foreign visitors aged 17 and above are eligible to use SES when leaving Korea, if they provided their fingerprint and facial image upon entry.

▪ In February 2018,  Korea restructured Investment Immigration Center into Global Talent Visa Center, which offers all necessary counselling services, including visa related matters for talented foreigners as well as immigrant investor scheme procedures. The center also carries out the issuance and management of ABTC, Immigration VIP card, and Korea Priority card. 
▪ The Business Startup (D-10-2) visa requirements have been eased since April 2019, such as removing the minimum educational requirement of the bachelor’s degree. For example, foreign nationals have become eligible for the visa regardless of educational background if they have recommendations from relevant organizations.

 
	▪ Korea looks forward to improving immigration procedures to be more expeditious and convenient by concluding more arrangements regarding the mutual use of automated immigration clearance service as well as installing additional auto-gates and enhancing its functions.

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Immigration Service(www.immigration.go.kr)

HI-KOREA (www.hikorea.go.kr), an electronic government system for foreigners
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Border Control Division, Korea Immigration Service

(TEL:+82-2-2110-4043)
	

	Official websites that gather economies’ information


	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr) 

Ministry of Strategy and Finance (www.mosf.go.kr)
Ministry of Foreign Affairs (www.mofa.go.kr)
	


	RTAs/FTAs  


	- Description of current 

  agreements


	Since the establishment of the FTA Roadmap in 2003, Korea has actively engaged in FTA negotiations with over 56 countries. So far, FTAs with Chile, Singapore, EFTA, ASEAN, India, Peru, EU, U.S., Australia, Canada, China, New Zealand, Vietnam, Colombia and 5 Central American states have entered into force. The Korea-U.K. FTA was signed in August 2019 and is currently under the ratification process in both countries. Korea concluded the Korea-Israel FTA in August 2019 and Korea-Indonesia CEPA in November 2019.

	- Agreements under negotiation


	Korea is currently negotiating FTAs with RCEP, MERCOSUR, Russia, Philippines etc. 

	
	Agreement #1


	Korea-China-Japan FTA

16th round of Korea-China-Japan FTA negotiations, Nov, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #2


	Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership

28th round of RCEP FTA, Sep, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #3


	Korea-MERCOSUR TA

4th round of Korea-MERCOSUR TA, Oct, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #4


	Korea-India CEPA Upgrading Negotiations 

8th round of Korea-India CEPA Upgrading Negotiations, Jun, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #5


	Korea-Chile FTA Upgrading Negotiations  

3rd round of Korea-Chile FTA Upgrading Negotiations, Oct, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #6


	Korea-China FTA Subsequent Negotiations in Services and Investment. 

6th round of Korea-China FTA Subsequent Negotiations, Nov, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #7


	Korea-Russia FTA in Services and Investment

2nd round of Korea-Russia FTA in Services and Investment, Jun, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #8


	Korea-Malaysia FTA 

3rd round of Korea-Malaysia FTA, Sep, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	
	Agreement #9
	Korea-Philippines FTA 

4th round of Korea-Philippines FTA, Sep, 2019

Discussions  ongoing

	- Future plans


	Prior to launching official negotiations, Korea is conducting preparation talks or joint studies with prospective FTA partners including Cambodia and Uzbekistan. 

	Website for further information:  
	Free Trade Agreement (www.fta.go.kr)

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

FTA Policy Planning Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5742


